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INTRODUCTION

This work is a product of an extensive historical study undertaken by the Meramec
Regional Planning Commission in connection with the Historic Preservation Program of
the State of Missouri. The Missouri Department of Natural Resources contracted with the
MPRC to research the historical and architectural developments of Phelps County,
following a similar program in both Dent and Maries counties in the previous year.

This study is primarily a survey of the existing architectural resources in Phelps
County along with a general history of the region. Althouth the historical report is
extensive, it is not intended to be exhaustive or complete, and, inevitably, there are errors
and omissions. -

In addition to the Phelps County history, 300 individual reports on historical sites in
the area were prepared as a supplement. It is hoped, that this work will stimulate
preservation efforts particularly for those buildings presently in danger.

The history of Phelps County is rich and varied. The region stands at the

crossroads of America in the heart of the nation. It has played a pivotal role in the



historical past, most particularly in the Civil War and the development of the American
West. The writers have been concerned to present the story of the land and the people in a
clear and concise manner. It is a panorama of the interaction of political, economic, and
social activity.

From the times of the first settlers to the present, the history of the region has been
a story of people and their attempts to relate to changing times and environment. The
writers hope that they have captured herein the full impact of those people and the forces
which have shaped Phelps County into the land we know today.
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METHODOLOGY

The search for the past in Phelps County was a historical and photographic odyssey
and became a journey that lasted eighteen months. It required hundreds of miles of travel
which provided a chance to explore many facets of a region diverse in its beauty and
people.

The survey was to consist of 300 historical reports on architectural structures
throughout the county and a 3 by 5 inch photograph of each building inventoried. In
addition, the researchers were to prepare a history of Phelps County as a final report
along with a location map of the sites included in the survey.

The project began with the field work in an attempt to learn as much as possible
about the area. This on-site inspection provided an opportunity to study the architectural
details and to evaluate the condition of the older residences and public buildings
throughout the county.

The buildings and homes were listed on survey sheets under the names of the first,

or early owner. The date of construction, the location, and a brief description of the
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structure have been included in each report. Whenever records were available, a brief
history of the persons and events connected with the building is presented.

Some of the structures listed are in good condition; others have deteriorated; some
are of statewide significance; others are of major interest only in the area or the county.

If a building is open to the public, the fact is noted. Otherwise, it is privately
owned, and its inclusion in this study does not in any way make it available to the general
public without permission. In most cases, however, the structures are visible from public
roads.

The survey resulted in 300 individual reports that provide a selection of buildings
that are representative of the overall architectural configuration of the county. The
reports are numbered from 1 to 300 in chronological order, as nearly as possible, by the
construction dates. The Phelps County history was printed under separate cover from the
individual reports, but a photograph of each building in the survey has also been included
in the historical volume.

In the "History of Phelps County" the period of our history has been marked off

into "seven eras" into which it rather naturally divides itself. In order to avoid confusion,
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it has been thought wise to arrange the events in order of their occurrence instead of
grouping them into categories. In doing this, historical unity has been preserved and the
arrangement has made possible a strictly chronological plan throughout.

Although thousands of details and facts have been included in the general history, a
more detailed outline of the historical developments in each major community is also
presented in separate sections of the book.

The use of oral testimony gained in personal interviews provided valuable
information for both the county history and the individual reports on the various
historical structures. In this process unrecorded community service and achievements
were narrated, and unfamiliar names were mentioned. The search for information
through interview permitted us to update the record of civic development, to detail the
background of business firms, and, most importantly, to record biographical information
of family histories.

All previous research in the historical development of the area was carefully
studied, but still, questions were unanswered and pertinent facts were missing. In an

attempt to fill in the blanks, a program of basic research was initiated by the MRPC
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utilizing the resources of the James Memorial Library in St. James, the Rolla Public
Library, the Library and Archives of the University of Missouri at Rolla, the UMR
branch of the Western Historical Manuscript Collection.

The research also included a study of numerous legal documents, including the
marriage records, land deeds, and wills on file at the Phelps County Courthouse; birth and
death certificates from the Missouri Bureau of Vital Statistics; military records from the
National Archives and Records Service; information from the federal census records; and
old newspaper articles and obituaries from the archives of the Rolla Daily News and the
St. James Leader-Journal.

The story of the past can be made extremely dull unless so told as to make the
visualization of the scene possible. Because so many histories do not call forth pictures,
history has been given a bad name among the masses to whom history is important. It is
easy to forget the details of what one reads, but one never forgets the details of what one
sees. Therefore, in the 300 historic survey reports that accompany this history
rediscovered old photographs have been generously utilized.. The whole of our history

cannot be told in pictures, but through them we can get the highlights; and when they cover



much of our story from the early days of photography to the present we can visualize the
events of history and know the spirit of past generations.

It is hoped these old photographs, gathered with some effort from a variety of
sources, will encourage local historians to search for others.

And still the total story of Phelps County has not been told. Characteristically,
older residents, as young people, were oblivious to the activities of their elders. Early
news reporting was sketchy and vague, often failing to give credit where credit was due;
and sadly, it was found that many records have been lost, destroyed or discarded, leaving
many questions still unanswered.

Hopefully this effort at re-creating the history of the area will stimulate interest in
uncovering more of the past and in preserving a record of the present.

The "History of Phelps County" is a work that is intended as a book of discovery. It
reaches beyond history to the rhythms and changes in life; to the passing of time; and to
the dreams and memories of people. It is a book of impressions of both the past and the

present. Some are fleeting impressions; others are lasting; but all are very real.
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History of Phelps County
FOREWARD

To truly know a people, it isn't enough to review a history of their governments and
battles, their territorial gains and economic development. -Their greatness is revealed in
their art: in painting, sculpture, music, literature and architecture. So it is with the people
of Phelps County, a people with an increasing interest in searching out the evidence of
their historic past as it is perserved in buildings, documents, and artifacts.

History is lived in the main by the unknown and the forgotten. However, historians
concentrate on those few who are on record because they have given speeches, written
books, made fortunes, held offices, won or lost battles and thrones while the mass of
humanity has been consigned forever to the shadows.

This history is not just a chronicle of political events and economic development,
but through a rediscovered collection of old documents and photographs, it goes a step
beyond by permitting the voices of past generations to speak to those of the present -

voices that historians never expected to hear, whose existence they had almost forgotten.
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This book is the product of such testimony delivered across the years telling us about life
in earlier times.

Here, then, is the story of a land whose origin came from a pre-historic time and
whose rivers flow from the melted glaciers of the late Ice Age, more than 14,000 years
ago.

Here, also, are the people of the lush-green wilderness: the pre-historic mound-
builders, long vanished; the Indians who farmed the fertile bottom land before the white
man came; the Spanish, French, and English explorers who ventured into the region; and
the settlers who clustered on the river banks and cleared the land for homesteads.

The white civilization that replaced the Indians in the region was a diverse one, with
differences in style, attitude, experience, and opportunity. They were mostly uneducated
and their numbers included hunters, disappointed farmers from Europe or the East,
trappers, old army scouts, French and Indian War veterans still unadjusted to home and
hearth, the adventurous, the tough, the footloose, and yet a nucleus of sturdy and

honorable people.
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Unfortunately, until the late 1800s, the whole history of the area was a series of
disasters. The early settlers were subjected not only to the normal hazards of the
wilderness but to an almost unparalleled succession of special calamities - Indian raids
prior to the Civil War, guerrilla raids during the war, bushwhackers thereafter; hot
winds, grass fires, torrential rains, blizzards, tonadoes; locusts, timber rattlers,
copperheads, gray wolves and cholera; the persecutions of nature accompanied by the
scourage of man in the form of outlaws, horse thieves, mortgage fiends, and a contracting
currency.

Those who entered the land and stuck it out were vigorous and independeﬁt and
bacame united from ordeal and survival. They endured all that man and nature could
inflict and, having cleared the land, knew well there was no world more harsh to conquer.

The homesteaders rarely became rich, but they eventually prospered, as hard work
on good land can make men prosper. With a simple, unshakeable faith, they believed in
progress and enterprise and sometimes even in the perfectibility of man. They also

believed in their country and were devoted to its liberty.
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So the voices in this book are fresh and new - voices of those who survived the
bushwhakers and the redskins, the blistering sun and the angry wind, pursuing the daily
round in quiet heroism without pretense or complaint. They found compensation in
watching their families and their homesteads grow, in possessing and subduing the
majestic land, in the blaze of spring flowers, the dying glories of the autumn sun, the utter
silence of the winter snow and in assuming the responsibility for their own lives in the
isolation and solitude of the wilderness.

Man has always been an explorer venturing out beyond the circle of fire, out
beyond the flat maps of ancient cartographers which were marked with warnings that read
"Here Be Monsters" and out beyond the pull of earth's gravity. Man's future has first been
man's dream of that future.

Beautiful and bountiful, the land was the great lure of the region. Some settlers
sought freedom, some yearned for prosperity, some craved adventure, but in the end it
was the promise of the land that drew them halfway across a continent. Here they could

build their own homes, cultivate their own fields and develop their own communities.
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Undoubtedly, it took a special kind of fortitude to adjust to this harsh terrain. Yet with
careful planning, hard work and imagination, the future was theirs to mold.

At the end of a long journey, the early settlers found themselves in a lonely,
hazardous wilderness; but their dreams reached for the stars and they became the master
builders in a territory that was to become Missouri and on land that was to be called Phelps
County. Only those of the purest faith and strongest will would survive. This is-their

story.
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Prehistory
to
1776

That piece of planet earth which became Phelps County, Missouri, consists of a 677
square mile block of territory some thirty-six miles long and twenty-seven miles wide at
its extreme.

It is an ancient place. Reading the story written on the land by the wind and the
rivers, we know a place washed by seas and glaciers; a land whose first creatures left
themselves as limestone in the evolutionary melt of time. Phelps County was land for the
first time as the seas receded and the Ozark hills emerged about 500,000,000 years ago.

At one time, the seas over the region were filled with sharks. Today the sea flowers
can be found as fossils in the rock along the creeks of many hill farms. Surely it must add
to the thrill of this place called Phelps County to know that the Gulf of Mexico reached
into the lowland counties just south of the area a mere 140,000,000 years ago and to know

that dinosaurs trudged through this region which was then a cyprus swamp.



When the seas had gone for the last time and the last glaciers had pushed their
boulders down from the north as far as the Missouri River, the land we call Phelps County
was ready for man. The time between then and now has been a time of evolutionary
adventure.

For a time this area which was immediately south of the great glacier was a frigid
wasteland, but with the recession of the ice a complex of living things evolved in a
primeval forest. The prehistoric forest developed over a period of several thousand years
and included a foliage umbrella of white, black, and post oak, blackjack, sycamore,
walnut, hickory, pine, cedar, maple, elm, hackberry, along with buckeye, ash, wild
cherry, redbud, dogwood, and even the now rare chestnut.

Topographically the area consisted of forested uplands interlaced with valleys
carrying clear and narrow streams; springs and caves notched the land. Annual rainfall
averaged forty inches. Silting occurred over time, producing fertile but narrow land in
the valleys. The hilltops of the area's southern border reached 1350 feet above sea level.
The lowest point, 630 feet, was on the Gasconade in the northwest corner of the future

county. A forested ridge rising up to twelve hundred feet was the site of the future Rolla.



The area had two watersheds, one created by an east-west ridge upon which the
future railroad would run, and another produced by a north-south ridge running through
the center. The latter watershed flowed into the Meramec River to the southeast. Streams
in this watershed included the Little Dry Fork, Big Dry Fork, Norman Creek, and even
future Rolla's Burgher Branch. The stream flow of the rest of the land moved north and
west into the Gasconade. These streams included the Little Piney, South Spring Creek,
Mill Creek, Beaver Creek, Tick Creek, Camp Creek, Lanes Ford, and the Bourbeuse
River.

We do not know when they came, but archeologists believe that the first human
residents in the area descended from those who had crossed over a land mass that once
bridged the Bering Strait approximately 40,000 years ago. It is thought that primitive
man followed ice-age mammals that were searching for food and had stumbled east from
Siberia into Alaska and then followed the course of least resistance, east of the Rocky
Mountains, into North America. The migration eventually lead them to the forests and

grasslands of the Missouri-Mississippi Valley drainage area.



Cave markings in western Phelps County and relics that have been found washed up
on gravel bars along the rivers indicate the presence of early inhabitants, called "Clovis
man" dating back to at least 10,000 B.C. We do not know what this early man looked like
or much about how he lived, but it is believed that his body was squat and powerful,
mostly bone and muscle, that his brain was capable of little ruminative thought, and that he
was not much given to verbal communication. We do know that he traveled in small
wayward bands, and that he was primarily a hunter, stalking the mightly beasts of the
Pleistocene Era - principally the masodon and the prehistoric bison - with spears and
arrows, the most advanced tool-making achievements of the Stone Age. He was built and
programmed for survival, survival alone in a world in which it was not easily managed.

Over the course of more than a hundred centuries the people of the area gradually
evolved from a brutally primitive condition to one that in some aspects at least could be
called sophisticated. They developed language, social structure, and religious forms;
instead of heaping rocks over the bodies of their dead, or just leaving them for scavangers,
they learned to bury them, often with the trappings of ceremony that suggested a powerful

belief in the ghosts and mysteries of a spirit world. They became less nomadic, and



besides hunting their meat, they foraged for natural vegetable foods and also started an
agriculture in the cultivation of a primitive maize, or corn.

Perhaps as long as 1000 B.C., they began to display a turn for art, expressed in the
painting and incising of pottery, much of it quite intricate. Their technology developed to
the point where they were making not only better weapons than the crude spears of their
ancestors, but a whole array of woodworking tools that enabled them to fashion such
things as dug-out canoes.

During this same time period, a new civilization began to develop, evidences of
which can be seen today in many places along the rivers of the region. It was the
civilization of a people infatuated with the rituals of death, who buried their dead in
mounds ranging from a few feet in height and diameter to those the size of small
buildings. The civilization of the mound-builders was remarkably long-lived, and many
of these sites have been discovered and preserved.

With the passing of time and a few more centuries of development, the natives of

the region gradually based their lives on agriculture and were generally sedentary, with



few territorial ambitions. Their warfare was largely defensive in nature and was limited
in ferocity.

By the eighteenth century the various tribes had created a rich and abundant life on
the fertile bottomlands along the rivers and streams. Members of the Shawnee Indian
nation lived at both Maramec Spring, which the Shawnees called Big Spring, and at the
mouth of the Little Piney where it flows in to the Gasconade River. Periodically, the
more numerous Osage Indians claimed the area as part of the eastern fringe of their
hunting grounds often causing conflict.

The different cultures would occasionally fight, sometimes severly when pushed to
it, but for the most part they preferred a peaceful existence of hunting, fishing, and
tending small individual plots of corn, squash, beans and pumpkins. The Indians lived on
these foods taking advantage of animal habits and plant food cycles. In season there were
all kinds of nuts, along with wild blackberries, raspberries, dewberries, strawberries,
grapes, plums, pawpaws, and watercress in the streams. A variety of game existed

including the turkey which had been domesticated, as well as fresh water fish.



Virtually, if not literally, the natural resources lay untouched. Forest and thicket
covered all but perhaps eight thousand acres. Unwooded areas consisted of five small
prairies sprinkled within the upland forest. Nature in its normal state abounded. Of
course where mankind lives it can be assumed that the natural state has been disturbed.
Even the Indian occasionally set fire to the forest in order to drive out game, and
periodically overhunted a species. Nevertheless the natural resources essential to the
Indians survival - the wood, the fish, the clear water, the minerals, the wildlife, the whole
complex ecology - were there.

Only when the European made contact with the area did he call it savage,
unordered, wilderness, something to be subdued, transformed and used. The first
Europeans to penetrate the region were explorers, military personnel, trappers and
hunters.

Because of the seventeenth century explorations of Marquette and Joliet, and
LaSalle, the French claimed the region and called it Louisiana, but in 1762 ownership,
from the European perspective, changed. The French fought the Seven Years War against
Great Britain, and in late 1761, Spain, fearful that a British victory would upset the



balance of colonial power, threw its weight to France and Austria. Great Britain
promptly captured Spanish Havana and Manila. France, losing the war, anxious not to
hand over Louisiana to the British, and desiring to compensate ally Spain for her recent
losses, ceded Louisiana to Spain in the secret Treaty of Fontainbleau in November, 1762.
As of 1776 Spain still held the territory, and in this year of the Declaration of
Independence probably no more than one hundred Indians lived in the area. Their
inability to withstand for long the intrusion of Europeans caused their numbers to decline
and weaken. They eventually retreated westward in the face of forces they neither
understood nor were able to control - a thin, living remnant of those distant ancestors who

once hunted the great mastodon beneath the shadow of a mountain of ice.
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1777 - 1820

In the years immediately following the American Revolution, the region remained
in a state of wilderness as a possession of Spain. The dense forests and scattered prairies
were abundant with wild game and were occasionally visited by a French hunter in search
of furs for European markets.

In decline as a major European power by the end of the eighteenth century, Spain
faced a crumbling empire and, with need for funds to bolster a sagging economy, found
that the Louisiana Territory was becoming more of a burden than a benefit. France, on
the other hand, under the leadership of Napoleon, was seeking to rebuild its empire in the
Carribean and in the Gulf of Mexico, beginning with Santo Domingo and Louisiana.
Determined to keep Louisiana out of the hands of Great Britain, France transferred to
Spain the European principality of Tuscany for the Louisiana Territory in the secret
treaty of San Ildefonso in 1800. Until such time as Napoleon could organize his affairs in
Europe and Santo Domingo, it was agreed that Spain would temporarily retain possession

of Louisiana.
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Rumors of the secret arrangement filtered across the Atlantic slowly. American
reaction to the transfer of Louisiana was one of shock and then anger. President Thomas
Jefferson suspected that the Santo Domingo campaign was meant to be the rehearsal for a
grander exercise - for nothing less than the physical conquest of the Louisiana Territory
and, in time, of the United States. "The day that France takes possession of New Orleans,"
Jefferson wrote to Robert Livingston, the U.S. Minister to France, "we must marry
ourselves to the British fleet and nation." Luckily, there was no need. Napoleon had sent
thirty-five thousand crack infantrymen from Europe to Santo Domingo to put down a
rabble of unorganized natives, but he soon lost twenty-four thousand of them in the
fighting. With this defeat, Napoleon abandoned hope for crushing a continent of savages
and taking on the Americans who had a reputation for fighting with similar guile. He
withdrew and decided against any further adventures three thousand miles from home.
By 1803, Napoleon considered the territory a liability and, being short on cash, sold the
Louisiana Territory to the United States, ending 150 years of European control.

The treaty for the Louisiana Purchase was signed April 30, 1803, and later that

year, on December 20, the French tricolor, which had floated only briefly over
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Louisiana, was lowered at New Orleans and the American flag raised. Governor William
C. Claiborne proclaimed that the government of the French Republic in Louisiana had
ceased, "and that of the United States of America is established over the same." Before the
government house in St. Louis a similar ceremony took place on March 9, 1804, when
Captain Amos Stoddard, representing both the United States and France, accepted the
transfer of Upper Louisiana from Lieutenant-Governor Carlos Delassus.

The Louisiana Territory was an unsettled, undefended land mass embracing the
whole watershed of the Mississippi River and comprising the present states of Louisiana,
Arkansas, Oklahoma, Missouri, North Dakota, South Dakota, lowa, Nebraska, Kansas,
Minnesota, Colorado, Wyoming, and Montana - a third of North America. President
Jefferson had seized the opportunity of the moment and had more than doubled the
existing territory of the United States (a 140 percent increase, to be exact) for the
ridiculously low price of $16,000,000 - only four cents an acre!

At a cost of $12,253.70 the future Phelps County became part of the United States
of America.
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Years went by before permanent settlers moved into this region. On June 4, 1812,
the Missouri Territory was organized by Congress, with a governor, a legislative council,
and a house of representative. The governor was appointed by the President of the United
States, and had the power of absolute veto. Only one man was ever appointed to the office
- William Clark of the "Lewis and Clark Expedition." His term as territorial governor
began in 1813 and lasted until Missouri became a state. The capital of the territory was St.
Louis.

Although the frontier line continually edged westward, the abundance of land
tended to slow down intensive development. Frontiersmen entering Missouri territory
also tended to move east-west along the Missouri River or along the west bank of the
Mississippi River, occupying the rich bottom lands and moving inland only after the
fertile lands were gone.

Two other factors slowed settlement into Missouri. First, Indians stood in the way.
But fewer in number and with less fire power, the Osage and the lnesser tribes and parts of
tribes, civilizations that had made the uplands and streams their homes for hundreds of

generations, were pushed out of Missouri. In the 1808 treaty between the Big and the
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Little Osage tribes and the United States government, these Indians agreed to vacate an
area north and west of the Arkansas River in present day Arkansas to a point on the
Missouri River at Fort Clark (Fort Osage), just twenty miles downstream on the Missouri
from present day Kansas City. Nevertheless a few Indians, including some Shawnees,
remained in the Phelps County region when the first permanent settlers arrived in 1818,
but they were individuals and small bands who lingered and tried to hold on to the
familiar. In the 1820s the United States government moved the main Shawnee nation
from the Ohio and Kentucky regions to a reservation west of Missouri. The Indian
obstacle to settlement disappeared.

The second factor discouraging rapid settlement concerned the selling of the newly
obtained public domain. According to the Ordinance of 1785, public land had to be
surveyed before it could be sold. Not until the establishment of the Fifth Principal
Meridian in 1815-1816 at ninety degrees, fifty-eight minutes West Longitude initiated the
process of survey, could land west of the Mississippi River be sold. That meridian ran
from the mouth of the Arkansas where it flowed into the Mississippi, north to the Missouri

River. In the process it ran a few miles west of present Potosi in Washington County. It
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still took time to survey the area, and sale of public land in Missouri did not begin until
August 3, 1818, at Franklin in Howard County.

The first sale of public domain in future Phelps County occurred in 1826, some
eight years after the first permanent settlers arrived. Those first families who arrived in
1818 simply sat or "squatted” on the land until the survey and land office reached their
part of the frontier. Some early settlers viewed themselves as adventurers, but more came
to this area because they thought the natural resources could be turned into a livelihood.
For whatever reasons, in 1818 four families from the upper South floated rivers west and
then, entering the Mississippi and then the Missouri, they rowed upstream to the
Gasconade and then in to the smaller streams.

James Berry Harrison and Lovisa Voss Duncan Harrison, originally from Virginia,
settled at the mouth of the Little Piney. They brought their six children with them. The
following year the Harrisons had another child. Benjamin Berry Harrison, the first
American child born in what would become Phelps County. The Adam Bradford family
also came in 1818. Louisville had been their last stop west, but they decided to come even

further. They first settled on the Little Piney and then on Spring Creek at present Relfe.
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John York, Jack Duncan, and John Duncan also settled in 1818. These families brought
their black slaves with them.

For a brief time then, three races shared the Ozark environment. The human
beings who morally owned the land were in the process of leaving, if unwillingly. The
Caucasian newcomers came to physically work the land and extract its natural resources.
They and others before and after them in American society reasoned themselves into
thinking that holding a third race in slavery for purposes of creating a kept labor force in
a labor scarce economy amounted to a moral good. Such was the area at the eve of
Missouri statehood, and it was against this background of events that the historical

developments of the future Phelps County began to evolve.
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1821 - 1854

On August 10, 1821 Missouri was declared a state, the first state to be created from
the Louisiana territory.

The proposition to admit Missouri into the union gave rise to a long and bitter
debate in Congress as to whether it should be admitted as a free state or a slave state. At
last, the question was settled by a compromise brought about through the efforts of Henry
Clay. The "Missouri Compromise of 1820" admitted Missouri into the union as a slave
state while Maine was admitted as a free state.

Missouri's first elections were held in 1820 before being formally admitted to the
union. Alexander McNair was chosen to be the first governor. Two senators were chosen
by the legislature; they were David Barton and Thomas Hart Benton.

The first General Assembly met at the Missouri Hotel in St. Louis. After statehood
the capital was changed to St. Charles, but this location was not sufficiently central; so in
1822, the Jefferson City location was decided upon, and the state legislature first met there
in 1826.
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After Missouri became a state in 1821, a steady stream of settlers began to venture
into the land. Those who came to the region that is now Phelps County were primarily
farmers and slaveholders from Kentucky, Tennessee, and Virginia. Most of these
pioneers traveled by horseback, wagons or oxcarts to a site they chose to homestead. - They
usually settled in a wooden area near a stream or spring. Prairies were shunned because
of a belief that "corn won't grow where trees don't". The tall grass kept sunlight from the
ground which became marshy during the spring rain and was difficult to plow. In
addition, prairies did not offer materials for building which wooded areas did.

Gradually, cabins sprang up as the land was cleared and transformed with boundless
vigor; but settlement took time. Only sixty individuals paid taxes in 1828. Seventy-one
land entries occurred between 1837, when the U. S. government survey of the area public
domain had been completed, and 1840. Undoubtedly, many others lived on the Gasconade
and its tributaries. Along with subsistence agriculture practiced along the narrow river
valleys, the Gasconade community also had grain and saw mills, a wool carding machine,
and blacksmithing. The river and creek people also assembled huge lumber rafts made up

of both dimension and plain lumber, floated them down the Big Piney to the Gasconade,
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and then to Saint Louis. With money in their pockets from the sale of lumber, the men and
boys walked home. Another population concentration lived in the Lane's Prairie area to
the northeast. g

Most importantly, a population concentration was at Maramec Spring in the
southeast. There the Maramec Iron Works, an industrial enterprise in the heart of the
forest, daily produced several tons of iron and iron products.

Several variables came together to produce this atypical frontier activity. The
growing Missouri economy pleaded for a source of iron ingots and finished iron ware and
implements. In 1825 Thomas James, a prominent iron-master in Ohio, ever watchful for
opportunities in the West, heard through friends that there existed in Missouri an ideal
combination of natural resources at a spot one hundred miles southwest of Saint Louis.
Iron ore banks, reliable, rapidly running water for a power source, abudant timber for
charcoal, and limestone for flux, made up the resource combination. James and partner
Samuel Massey purchased the Maramec Spring site plus an additional ten thousand acres
of timber land surrounding the spring. Equipment, labor, some free and some slave, and

skilled artisans were brought in. By 1829 the iron works had a capacity of nine tons of
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iron per day. In addition to iron ingots, the Maramec Iron Works manufactured pots,
skillets, kettles, grates, flues, plowmolds, sledgehammers, and hammerheads.

A community of five hundred persons made up of Maramec Iron officials,
workers, and their families resided in the immediate vicinity of the spring. Ironically, at
least when the reality is compared with the popular frontier image, a significant number
of the subject land's population made their living in industry. Out of character too, when
compared with the American self-image of abundance, was the amount of environmental
disruption and depletion which quickly occurred at Maramec Iron. In the summer months
the air for miles around carried the pungent odor of burning charcoal pits. Year after
year the available close-in timber for charcoal diminished, for by the 1850s the furnace
consumed sixteen hundred bushels of charcoal daily. The iron ore would prove to be
finite in the future.

By 1854 new and old settlers were using the land and resources unevenly. The
residents already had overhunted some of the animal species. By that time perhaps two
thousand persons lived on farmsteads or in forest cabins that were scattered throughout

the region or located at the industrial development at Maramec Spring.
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1855 - 1865

Trouble over the slavery issue had been brewing throughout the nation's history
and came closer to the area in the 1850s. Immigration patterns had been changing with
more people who opposed slavery entering the region. Immigration increased from
northern states where slavery was traditionally opposed. There was also an influx of
Germans who believed that a person who wished to get ahead should do it with his own
hands.

As the Civil War approached, residents of the region had divided loyalties, and few
states were as divided as Missouri during the War. Missouri's culture was still basically
southern, but the balance was changing. The arrival of the railroads and subsequent
development of the state's natural resources was beginning to tie Missouri to the industrial
northern states. Thus southerners who favored industrial development sided with
immigrants from northern states to oppose Missouri's secession from the Union. The
views of slavery opponents varied widely, but it was difficult for the working class to

compete with cheap slave labor.
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During the ten years preceding the Civil War much of the land in the area changed
from public to private hands, and the building of a railroad caused a significant alteration
in the area's status. First, in 1854 the U. S. Congress passed a land law, the Graduation
Act. A favorite of the Democrats, the law graduated the price of public domain
downward after it had been on the market for a period of years. Much of the Phelps
County land had been up for sale for more than fifteen years. This meant the purchasers
could buy government land for seventy-five cents an acre instead of the usual $1.25. Even
lands only on the market for ten years, but unsold, could now be purchased for one dollar
an acre. This act undoubtedly increased the area population. Admittedly, absentee land
speculators bought a disproportionate amount of the land, but the law also made it easier
for the small enterpriser and farmer to buy land. Now, since the minimum was eighty
acres (there was no maximum), a person could purchase a farm for sixty dollars, forty
dollars less than previously possible. Much of the Ozark region moved from public to
private hands through the Graduation Act. Nationwide, in the eight years that it existed

the law produced a sale of thirty million acres a year.
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Secondly, a railroad was constructed across the county from the east. Started in
1855, its tracks had crept to between Rolla and Arlington by the end of 1865. Rolla stood
as the railhead all during the Civil War.

At this juncture it should be noted that three other ingredients significant in Phelps
County history are inextricably tied with the railroad. They are the actual creation of
Phelps County in 1857, the official incorporation of the town of Rolla on January 25,
1861, and the Civil War, which started that same spring. The following indicates the
inter-relationships of these subjects in the county's history.

In the 1840s U. S. Senator from Missouri, Thomas Hart Benton, had a dream of a
commercial "Passage to India," contact with the Far East be going west. In his mind this
came to fruition in 1852 when an act of Congress granted to the State of Missouri public
domain land to aid in the construction of two railroads across the state, one along the
thirty-eighth parallel and another along the thirty-fifth somewhat more south. With this
grant of land Missouri in turn granted not only a right of way for these railroads but also
considerable additional lands to the companies that obtained the railway franchises. In the

case of the southwest branch of the Pacific Railroad, as the thirty-fifth parallel line was
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originally called, the railroad company received alternate sections (640 acres) of land
amounting to ten sections on each side of the track right of way. Once the company
finished construction of a segment of track, it received additional sections of land. The
land being the primary source of funds for financing the construction of the railroad, the
railway company immediately put it up for sale.

In 1855 the J. Stever Company became a subcontractor under the parent railroad
corporation, contracting to clear and grade the right of way the thirty-one miles from
Leasburg to the Gasconade River on the west. The parent railroad paid the subcontractors
in land. Upon one piece of land the Stever Company built a two story house/office
structure. One of the several partners in the Stever Company, thirty-seven year old
Edmund W. Bishop, his confidence shaken by the national financial panic of 1857 decided
he would get out of the highly speculative railroad business. He made an offer to his
associates, and they accepted. Bishop exchanged his holdings in the company for sole
ownership of the two story structure and considerable acreage nearby. He then sought to

turn a profit by subdividing the land and encouraging the growth of a town. He offered
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the prospective Phelps County government fifty acres if it would locate the county seat on
that land.

Before 1857 parts of future Phelps County belonged to Pulaski, Maries, and
Crawford Counties. Interest existed to create an altogether new county because
population concentrations distant from the various county seats wanted their local
government to be closer to them. Consequently, the Lane's Prairie people and the
Gasconade settlements to the north and the northwest, and the Maramec community in the
southwest, complemented Bishop's hope to encourage town development along the
railroad route at the point where he owned land. Bishop may very well have influenced
that decision, for it matched his wishes precisely. He quickly offered the fifty acres, and
the commissioners decided to take him up on the offer. Edmund Bishop's visionary town
of Rolla (traditionally believed to be a corruption of Raleigh, North Carolina) became the
new county's seat of government.

Within just over three years, late 1857 to January 1861, when the first railway

locomotive chugged into the Rolla railhead, the site had become a rough frontier town of
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six hundred residents living in seventy-five houses and structures, a town complete with a
soon to be built brick courthouse and a thick stone jailhouse.

The railroad also determined the location of Phelps County's second largest town,
Saint James, for John Wood laid out the town of Scioto (named after an Ohio river
familiar to many of the skilled iron workers then living at Maramec Spring). But soon
thereafter William James, son of Thomas James, together with James A. Dunn bought the
yet to be town and changed its name to Saint James. When the first steam locomotive
passed through on July 4, 1860, the James group had already constructed a platform.
Later that year a store and a warehouse were constructed, but the real Saint James did not
evolve until after the conclusion of the Civil War.

Rolla, however, did grow during the Civil War. Because the railhead existed at
Rolla throughout the war, the town served as the terminus for supplies and troops for all
the Union activities in the Southwest United States. The government built extensive
warehousing facilities next to the railroad tracks, and the woods surrounding the town
quickly filled up with Union troops either coming, going, or guarding the railroad from

prospective Confederate threats from the west and south. Two forts, Wyman on the south
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and Detty on the North, existed throughout the war. Troop estimates range from twenty
to sixty thousand men quartered in the immediate area during the war. Two thousand
civilians also moved in to serve the military's various needs. The ecology of the region
naturally suffered, for in the process of providing wood for construction, camp site
clearing, and fuel, most of the timber was cut down. Within a radius of three miles of
Rolla the timber was virtually eliminated. A panoramic photograph taken of Rolla in
1869 reveals a great deal. One can readily see most of the buildings in the town because
only a half dozen trees stood to serve as shade.

Trenches and earthworks meandering in and around the town certainly did not
contribute beauty either. Despite the dust and mud and disorder, many people must have
been pleased, for Rolla was in boom time. But in reality the boom would bust. It was
based on an artificial, transitory situation: the Civil War. When the war ended the troops
went home; the forts and warehouses came down and became used lumber. The
townspeople who remained used the lumber for the construction of a few buildings, a lot
of fences, and for fuel. The 1865 fire which destroyed forty buildings, and smallpox and

cholera outbreaks added to the end of war depression.
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Immediately after the war Rolla reverted back to its pre-Civil War status, a railroad
town of six hundred persons, sitting in the wooded uplands of the Ozarks, waiting for
regional increase in population before it could grow into a trade center. From the
perspective of the present, the Civil War was not critical in Rolla's history. The war
amounted to an episode, and a largely unpleasant one at that. The permanent changes to
Phelps County came from the turnover in the rural civilian population. Before the war,
Southerners from Virginia, North Carolina, Kentucky and Tennessee migrated into the
area. By 1860 black slaves numbered 105 out of a total population of over five thousand.
In the 1860 U.S. Presidential election the Southern Democrat John C. Breckinridge easily
carried the county with 430 votes. Northern Democrat Stephen A. Douglas followed with
almost three hundred votes. Intimidated by the presence of the thousands of Union forces
during the war, many of these Southern families fled the county and never came back.

In summary, it is apparent that the southwest branch of the Pacific Railroad (the
future Frisco) is the key to local history during this period. Without the railroad Edmund
W. Bishop would not have been in the area with his town proxﬁotion ideas, nor would

there have been a magnet of steel rails to encourage the separate settlements of the locale
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to try to create a new county. Nor would Saint James have been plotted. Without the
railroad there would have been no reason for a great amount of government money and
men to locate there even temporarily. Without the railroad most probably the Civil War
would have largely passed by south central Missouri. Even some institutions which an
observer would not ordinarily attribute to the influence of the railroad developed because
of it. In 1862 the Catholic Church founded Saint Patrick's in Rolla in order to serve the
Irish railroad construction crews and their families.
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